## Synthesis and Reactivity of sp<sup>2</sup> Geminated Organobismetallic Derivatives

Ilan Marek\*

Department of Chemistry and Institute of Catalysis Science and Technology, Technion-Israel Institute of Technology, Technion City, Haifa 32000, Israel

Received November 11, 1999

## **Contents**

Ι.	Introduction	2887
II.	1,1-Dilithioalkene Reagents or Those Containing Lithio Species	2888
	1. 1,1-Dilithioalkene Reagents	2888
	2. 1,1-Lithio-cuprioalkene Reagents	2889
	3. 1,1-Lithio-zirconioalkene Reagents	2889
III.	1,1-Dimagnesioalkene Reagents	2889
IV.	1,1-Dialuminioalkene Reagents or Those	2889
	Containing Aluminum Species	
	1. 1,1-Dialuminioalkene Reagents	2889
	2. 1,1-Aluminio-titanioalkene Reagents	2890
	3. 1,1-Aluminio-zirconioalkene Reagents	2890
V.	1,1-Dimetalloalkene Reagents Containing Boron Species	2890
	1. 1,1-Borio-lithioalkene Reagents	2890
	2. 1,1-Borio-zincioalkene and	2891
	1,1-Borio-cuprioalkene Reagents	
	3. 1,1-Borio-zirconioalkene Reagents	2891
	4. 1,1-Borio-aluminioalkene Reagents	2892
VI.	1,1-Dizincioalkene Reagents or Those Containing Zincio Species	2893
	1. 1,1-Zincio-zirconioalkene Reagents	2893
	2. 1,1-Zincio-aluminioalkene Reagents	2893
	3. 1,1-Dizincioalkene Reagents	2893
VII.	1,1-Dizirconioalkene Reagents	2897
VIII.	1,1-Digallioalkene Reagents	2897
IX.	1,1-Diindioalkene Reagents	2897
Х.	1,1-Cuprio-titanioalkene Reagents	2898
XI.	1,1,2-Trititanioalkene Reagents	2898
XII.	1,1,2-Trialuminioalkene Reagents	2898
XIII.	Conclusions	2899
XIV.	Acknowledgments	2899
XV.	References	2899

## I. Introduction

The development of new strategies in organic syntheses with a minimum of chemical steps is becoming more and more necessary for the efficient assembly of complex molecular structures.<sup>1</sup> So, the combination of multiple reactions in a single operation represents a particularly efficient approach. Among different strategies,<sup>2</sup> geminated organobismetallic derivatives (1,1-bisanions) are becoming



Ilan Marek (born in Haifa, Israel, in 1963) was educated in France and received his Ph.D. degree from the University Pierre et Marie Curie, Paris, in 1988 (Normant's laboratory). In 1989, he was a postdoctoral fellow with Professor Ghosez in Louvain-La-neuve, Belgium, and obtained a research position at the CNRS in 1990. After obtaining his Habilitation in Organic Chemistry at the University Pierre et Marie Curie in 1995, he moved to the Technion-Israel Institute of Technology at the end of 1997. His current interests include the development of new methodologies in organic synthesis pertaining to the diastereoselective and enantioselective carbometalation reaction of alkenes, the synthesis and reactivity of polymetalated species, and the reactivity of carbenoids.

more and more useful as demonstrated by the recent review on the synthesis and synthetic utilities of 1,1sp<sup>3</sup> bismetallic derivatives.<sup>3</sup>

During the past decades, considerable effort has been made to find new routes for the preparation of geminated  $sp^2$  bismetallic derivatives and for their selective reactions with several electrophiles. This review is intended to highlight the major results in this field.

Indeed, as they can be used, for example, as a source of polysubstituted carbon–carbon double bonds in a single-pot operation, their preparations are still challenging. We will concentrate on the chemistry of lithium, magnesium, boron, aluminum, copper, zirconium, titanium, gallium, indium, and zinc.<sup>4</sup> However, the alkylidene carbene chemistry<sup>5</sup> as well as groups 14 (such as tin or silicon) and 16 (such as Se and Te) elements will not be addressed in this review. In a similar way, the "anti-Van't Hoff/Le Bel" derivatives with a planar-tetracoordinate carbon atom and two metal substituents sharing an sp<sup>2</sup> orbital will also be not included in this review.<sup>6</sup>

As in few cases, the same metal can be presented in different subchapters; we have decided, as a general rule, to classify the corresponding bismetallic

<sup>\*</sup> E-mail address: chilanm@tx.technion.ac.il.

derivative in the chapter (or subchapter) in which the metal is held by the starting material. For example, the 1,1-borio-zincioalkene compound will be in the boron subchapter since the starting material is the  $\alpha$ -iodoalkenylboronic ester.

# II. 1,1-Dilithioalkene Reagents or Those Containing Lithio Species

## 1. 1,1-Dilithioalkene Reagents

Among organopolylithium compounds, the 1,1dilithioalkenes occupy the center of interest since, according to ab initio calculations on 1,1-dilithioethene,<sup>7</sup> an orthogonal (perpendicular) double bond with a triplet ground state should be preferred. Furthermore, an extremely low value was calculated for the barrier of rotation to a planar double bond. As consequences, related molecules have been prepared. Indeed, the reaction of excess lithium vapor (700-800 °C) with several vaporized alkenes has been studied, and it has been found that substitution of hydrogen for lithium occurs to produce polylithiated alkenes, albeit in very low yield.<sup>8</sup> In this process, it seems likely that the first reaction of alkenes with lithium is the substitution of a vinylic hydrogen with subsequent replacement of both vinyl and alkyl hydrogens. A few years later, an alternative (and much more practical) method was developed by a mercury-lithium exchange; dilithiomethylenecyclohexane 2 was prepared by treatment of bis(chloromercurio)methylenecyclohexane 1 with lithium powder in diethyl ether.<sup>9</sup> The resulting bislithio derivative was trapped with  $D_2O$  to form the pure dideuteriomethylenecyclohexane 3 in 51% yield as described in Scheme 1.

#### Scheme 1



The dilithioalkene **2** can also be obtained free of lithium amalgam and lithium halide if the bromomercury compound **4** is treated with *tert*-butyllithium<sup>9</sup> (Scheme 1). On the other hand, when a solution of 1,1-dibromo-2,2-diphenylethene **5** is added slowly at low temperature to a radical anion lithiumdi-*tert*-butylbiphenyl (LDBB) solution, the corresponding 1,1-dilithio-2,2-diphenylethene **6** is obtained in a moderate 36% yield<sup>10</sup> (path A, Scheme 2). Nearly the same yield is obtained when the reaction of **5** is performed with lithium dust at -110 °C (path B, Scheme 2). The dilithio compound **6** was characterized by quenching with dimethyl sulfate to yield 2-methyl-1,1-diphenyl-1-propene **7**.





However, only one halogen atom of 1,1-dihalo-1alkenes can be replaced by lithium even with *tert*butyllithium (path C). This was shown for aromatic as well as for aliphatic substituted geminal dihaloalkene.<sup>10</sup> With 1,1-dibromo-2,2-diphenylethylene **5**, a carbenoid complex **8** with the alkyllithium compound is formed. However, this simulates the behavior expected of a geminal dilithioalkene, e.g., by reaction with methyl iodide or with dimethyl sulfate (Scheme 2).<sup>10</sup> The name "quasi dianion complex" (QUADAC) was coined for such species,<sup>10</sup> which react as if they were "dianions".

Despite the above statement (Scheme 2, path C), the supposed preparation of functionalized 1,1-dilithio-1-alkenes **10** was reported by treatment of the corresponding 1,1-diiodo-1-alkenes with alkyllithiums (Scheme 3),<sup>11</sup> but few years later, evidence

## Scheme 3



were presented that the reported 1,1-dilithio-2-isopropoxy-2-phenylethene **10**, in reality, is a carbenoid complexed with methyllithium as **9**,<sup>12</sup> again a "QUA-DAC" simulating the existence of a geminal dilithioalkene.

Finally, the preparation of 1,1-dilithiocumulenes by a double deprotonation reaction of allenes was also reported but, as these species are in metallotropic equilibrium with their corresponding isomers (1,3dilithio species), they will be not considered as sp<sup>2</sup> geminated bismetallic derivatives.<sup>13</sup> Unfortunately, all the predictions made by calculations 25 years ago are still not verified (no X-ray structure) by the actual syntheses which either are low yielding (but easy to handle, Scheme 2, path A or B) or use the mercury-lithium exchange (but are synthetically more difficult, Scheme 1).

## 2. 1,1-Lithio-cuprioalkene Reagents

Although the stannylcupration of various alkynes leads to the corresponding vinylcopper derivatives, two regioisomers are generally obtained. However, when the stannylcupration is performed on the corresponding lithium acetylide, the 1,1-lithio-cuprioalkene **11** is surprisingly obtained as a single isomer and in excellent yield (Scheme 4).<sup>14</sup>

#### Scheme 4



However, the reactivity of the 1,1-lithio-cuprioalkene derivative with electrophiles is yet to be established

## 3. 1,1-Lithio-zirconioalkene Reagents

Treatment of *N*-(2-bromoallyl)-*N*-prop-2-ynylamines **12** with *tert*-butyllithium followed by reaction with zirconocene methyl chloride afforded, after addition of deuterated sulfuric acid, the trideuterated pyrrolidine **14** (Scheme 5).<sup>15</sup> The formation of **14** can be

### Scheme 5



understood by assuming an intramolecular insertion of the acetylide moiety, generated in the lithiation step, in the zirconacyclopropene **13** leading to the zirconacyclopentadiene which by deuteriolysis generates compound **14**.

However, no attempt was made to differentiate the reactivity of the two metals with electrophiles.

## III. 1,1-Dimagnesioalkene Reagents

Duboudin and Jousseaume reported the only known example of 1,1-dimagnesioalkene.<sup>16</sup> They observed a regiospecific addition of organomagnesium compounds to metalated propargylic alcoholates **15** in the presence of a catalytic amount of CuI. Geminal di-Grignard reagents **16–18** are obtained in moderate isolated yields after deuteriolysis (Scheme 6).

#### Scheme 6



Moreover, when **18** is heated under reflux for 5 h, an unusual 5-*endo*-trig<sup>17</sup> cyclization reaction occurs to give the cyclic product **19**. The latter can be converted to deuterated hydroxymethylcyclopentene **20** or allylated to 2,4-diallyl-1-hydroxymethylcyclopentene **21** as described in Scheme 7.<sup>16</sup>

#### Scheme 7



## IV. 1,1-Dialuminioalkene Reagents or Those Containing Aluminum Species

#### 1. 1,1-Dialuminioalkene Reagents

The hydroalumination of alk-1-ynes can be controlled by the choice of solvent; mono-, di-, or trihydroalumination (formation of sp<sup>3</sup> geminated trialuminioalkane) reactions are obtained by carrying out the reaction in hydrocarbon,<sup>18</sup> ether or THF,<sup>19</sup> or trialkylamine,<sup>20</sup> respectively. Thus, when the metalation was carried out in triethylamine at 25 °C using 1 mol equiv of R<sub>2</sub>AlH per mol equiv of enyne **22**, followed by the slow addition of R<sub>2</sub>AlH (1.2 mol equiv) at 50 °C,<sup>21</sup> 3-methylcyclopentene was obtained, after hydrolysis, via a 5-*exo*-trig cyclization reaction of **23** in 79% yield.<sup>22</sup> Deuteriolysis gave dideutero-3-methyl cyclopentene **25** having one deuterium atom in the methyl group and the other one at the double bond as described in Scheme 8.

Moreover, selective iodination of the vinyl carbonaluminum bond with 1 equiv of iodine at low temperature, followed by hydrolysis, gave only the vinyl iodide **26** (no trace of the iodomethyl iodocyclopentene was detected in the crude reaction mixture). However, although the precursor for the formation of **24** appears to be the 1,1-dialuminiohexa-1,5-diene **23**, a direct synthesis of **23** is still unknown. As a consequence, the intermolecular addition of electrophiles on 1,1-dialuminioalkenes is still unknown.

Scheme 8



If a leaving group is present in the carbon skeleton, the 1,1-bisaluminum derivative, generated by a zirconio-catalyzed methylalumination of alkynyldimethylalane, undergoes a  $\sigma$ -cycloalkylation to lead to the cyclic five-membered ring product in high yield (Scheme 9).<sup>23</sup>

Scheme 9



This new cyclization reaction of 1,1-polymetalated species containing aluminum derivatives was also applied to the synthesis of four-membered ring derivatives.<sup>24</sup>

## 2. 1,1-Aluminio-titanioalkene Reagents

Octynyldimethylalane **27** (generated by treatment of 1-octyne with Me<sub>3</sub>Al at 85 °C) reacts smoothly with a 1:1 combination of Me<sub>3</sub>Al/Cp<sub>2</sub>TiCl<sub>2</sub> in methylene chloride at room temperature to lead to the corresponding sp<sup>2</sup> 1,1-bismetalated derivative **28** in 84% yield after hydrolysis.<sup>25</sup> The intermediacy of the geminally dimetal-substituted alkenes<sup>26</sup> has been further supported by a NMR study<sup>27</sup> and by the formation of >95% pure 1,1-dideuterio-2-methyl-1octene **29** as described in Scheme 10. These NMR

#### Scheme 10



observations indicate that **28** is formed as a single stereoisomer which is probably the *E* isomer, based on the known stereochemistry of the carbotitanation of simple acetylenes<sup>17</sup> as well as the NMR spectral data. Then, **28** undergoes a relatively slow stereoisomerization leading to a ca. 60:40 mixture of the *E* and *Z* isomers. In the equilibrating mixture, however, no species other than the *E* and *Z* isomers of **28** appears to be present in readily detectable quantities. When cyclohexanone or benzaldehyde were added to the bismetallic derivative **28**, the expected allenes were formed in, respectively, 83 and 67% yields.<sup>27</sup>

## 3. 1,1-Aluminio-zirconioalkene Reagents

The carbometalation reaction of 1-pentynyldimethylalane with either a 1:1 mixture of Me<sub>3</sub>Al and  $Cl_2ZrCp_2$  or  $Cl(Me)ZrCp_2$  was also studied.<sup>25</sup> The reaction produces the bismetallic derivatives **30** in high yield in both cases (Scheme 11). Despite the

#### Scheme 11



similarity in the mode of formation, **28** (Scheme 10) and **30** (Scheme 11) display a remarkable contrast. Unlike **28**, the reaction of **30** with cyclohexanone is sluggish and does not produce the allene. While the reaction of **28** with I<sub>2</sub> produces iodinated alkenes only in low yields (<20%), the corresponding reaction of **30** with 2 equiv of I<sub>2</sub> cleanly gives 1,1-diiodo-2-methyl-1-pentene in 92% yield. Attempts to differentiate the reactivity of the two metal groups were made. The reaction of **30** with acetyl chloride in the presence of AlCl<sub>3</sub> gives a 92:8 mixture of (*Z*)- and (*E*)-4-methyl-3-hepten-2-one in 61% yield (Scheme 11).<sup>25</sup> This reaction represents *the first example* where two different electrophiles were added intermolecularly on sp<sup>2</sup> bismetallic derivatives.

## V. 1,1-Dimetalloalkene Reagents Containing Boron Species

#### 1. 1,1-Borio-lithioalkene Reagents

As theoretical calculations indicate a high degree of stabilization of vinyl carbanion with an  $\alpha$ -boron atom,<sup>28</sup> routes to boron-stabilized alkenyl carbanion have been established. As preliminary experiments to remove the  $\alpha$ -proton directly from alkenylboranes met with little success,<sup>28</sup> the cleavage of geminal trialkylstannyl-boron species was investigated.<sup>28</sup> From these experiments, it was found that the less hindrance around the tin and the greater the hindrance around the boron the better the exchange. So, the combination of 1-trimethylstannyl-2-phenylethyne **31** or 1-trimethylstannyloct-1-yne **32** with dimesitylbo-

rane represents the highly efficient process for the conversion shown in Scheme  $12.^{28}$ 

#### Scheme 12



So long as the tin atom is bearing methyl groups, BuLi or MesLi can be used for the trialkylstannyllithium exchange. The  $\alpha$ -borio-lithioalkene thus formed reacts with alkylating agents to give the single (*E*)-vinyl borane isomer **33** (Scheme 13). This

#### Scheme 13



stereospecific production of **33** is an interesting route to the stereochemically defined vinylborane which may not always be cleanly available by the direct hydroboration reaction of internal alkyne. On the other hand, the alkaline oxidation of these vinylboranes led to the corresponding ketones as described in Scheme 13.

α-Borio-lithioalkenes also undergo a facile boron-Wittig-type reaction with aldehydes to give allenes (Scheme 13).<sup>29</sup> Successful intramolecular conjugate addition reactions of ω-lithio acetylenic dimesitylboranes were also described. Indeed, treatment of **34** in Et<sub>2</sub>O with 2 equiv of 'BuLi at -78 °C to 0 °C gave (through a rapid metal–halogen exchange into the linear organolithium derivative **35**) the cyclized boron-stabilized anion **36**.<sup>30</sup> Protonation of **36** with MeOH gave cyclic vinylborane **37** in 93% yield. Similarly, **38** was converted into cyclobutylidene derivative in 95% yield (Scheme 14).<sup>30</sup>

Bismetallic **36** could also be trapped with a variety of alkylating agents and then after oxidation the corresponding ketones **39** were obtained (Scheme 14).<sup>30</sup>

## 2. 1,1-Borio-zincioalkene and 1,1-Borio-cuprioalkene Reagents

The (*Z*)- $\alpha$ -iodoalkenylboronic ester **40** (prepared by the hydroboration of 1-iodoalkyne with HBBr<sub>2</sub>,Me<sub>2</sub>S followed by the conversion into 1-iodoalkenylboronic acid and then esterification with pinacol) reacts with zinc dust in *N*,*N*-dimethylacetamide (DMA) to furnish the 1,1-boron, zinc alkenylbismetallic **41**.<sup>31</sup> The zinc insertion to  $\alpha$ -iodoalkenylboronic esters does not





occur stereospecifically and the pure (*Z*)-40 is converted to an E/Z mixture of alkenylzinc iodides 41 in a 82/18 ratio. Indeed, the iodolysis of 41 provides the parent compound but as a mixture of isomers in an E/Z ratio of 82/18. However, the transmetalation of 41 with CuCN and 2LiCl leads to the 1,1-borio-cuprio bismetallic reagent 42. The different nature of the two metals present in compound 42, or their different stereotopicity, can be used *to make two new bonds successively* (Scheme 15).<sup>31</sup>

The polymetallic zinc reagent **44** was also prepared by treating the functionalized  $\alpha$ -iodoalkenylboronic esters **43** with an excess of zinc dust in DMA (Scheme 16).<sup>31</sup> After transmetalation to the copper compound and addition of ethyl  $\alpha$ -(bromomethyl)acrylate followed by oxidation, the unsaturated ketodiester **45** was isolated in 59% yield (Scheme 16).<sup>31</sup>

## 3. 1,1-Borio-zirconioalkene Reagents

Hydrozirconation of 1-alkynyldioxaborolane with 1.2 equiv of HZrCp<sub>2</sub>(Cl) in either THF or 1,4-dioxane proceeded readily by a syn addition to give essentially pure boryl zirconocene (*E*)-1,1-bismetallics **46** (Scheme 17).<sup>32</sup> As the carbon–zirconium bond is more reactive than the carbon–boron bond toward hydrolysis, a direct utility of **46** would be the preparation of (*Z*)-alkenyl boronates.

Moreover, since hydrozirconation is tolerant of many functional groups, several functionalized (*Z*)-vinylboronates were prepared by this way.<sup>32</sup> Bismetallics **46** were also reacted with various electrophiles and, as expected, the carbon–zirconium bond always reacts first as described in Scheme 18.<sup>33</sup> *No dialky-lated products* were observed with 1 equiv of electrophile. The X-ray analysis of **46** confirmed the configuration of the four-coordinated Zr complex with two cyclopentadienyl rings.<sup>33</sup>

As a demonstration of the scope of this emerging methodology, the synthesis of Temarotene (retinoid),<sup>34</sup> Chokol A, and Chokol G (fungitoxic sesquiterpenoids)<sup>35</sup> were efficiently developed.

#### Scheme 15<sup>a</sup>



<sup>a</sup> Reaction conditions: (i) (*E*)-1-iodooctene, Pd(dba)<sub>2</sub> (1 mol %), PPh<sub>3</sub> (4 mol %); (ii) diethyl benzylidenemalonate, 25 °C, 8 h; (iii) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> oxidation; (iv) benzylideneacetone, TMSCl -78 °C to 20 °C, 12 h; (v) cyclohexenone, TMSCl -78 °C to 20 °C, 12 h; (vi) nitrostyrene -78 °C to 0 °C, 1 h; (vii) DBU, flash chromatography; (viii) ethyl propiolate -78 °C to -40 °C, 1 h; (ix) ethyl α-(bromomethyl)acrylate -78 °C to 0 °C, 1 h; (x) 1-iodohexyne -30 °C, 18 h; (xi) pentanal, BF<sub>3</sub>, Et<sub>2</sub>O -10 °C, 15 h.

#### Scheme 16





Sequential addition of electrophiles is also possible. Thus, reaction of **47** with 2-bromopropene followed by coupling with phenyl iodide provided **48** (Scheme 19). The same starting material **47** leads to the isomeric product **48** by reversing the sequence of addition of electrophiles.<sup>33</sup>

Cyclic borazirconocenes were also prepared by the reductive cyclization with Negishi's reagents<sup>36</sup> of 1-alkynyl-4-alkenyl diboronates **49** (see Scheme 20), but no attempt was made to isolate and characterize this borazirconocycles.<sup>37</sup>

Only the hydrolysis with anhydrous HCl in  $Et_2O$  was performed to give the 1-alkenyl-4-alkyl diboronate **50** in 80% yield. The same reaction can be also applied for the formation of the six-membered ring.

Scheme 18<sup>a</sup>



<sup>*a*</sup> Reaction conditions: (i) *N*-halogenosuccinimide; (ii) acid chloride, (1 equiv) CuBr, Me<sub>2</sub>S, (0.1 equiv), THF, 1 h; (iii) cyclohexenone, CuBr, Me<sub>2</sub>S (0.1 equiv), THF, 1 h; (iv) allylbromide, CuCN, THF, 12 h.

A Suzuki–Miyaura coupling of **50** with 1 equiv of aryl iodide occurred exclusively at the carbon- $sp^2$ -boron bond, and then the oxidation of the remaining carbon- $sp^3$  carbon–boron occurs quantitatively in a second step, demonstrating that sequential transformation of the two boron moieties in **50** is feasible.

### 4. 1,1-Borio-aluminioalkene Reagents

Alkynyl dicyclohexylboranes were also successfully carbometalated by the combination of  $Me_3Al/Cp_2TiCl_2$  to give the 1,1-borio-aluminioalkene derivatives (Scheme 21).<sup>25</sup>

#### Scheme 19



Scheme 20



#### Scheme 21



## VI. 1,1-Dizincioalkene Reagents or Those Containing Zincio Species

## 1. 1,1-Zincio-zirconioalkene Reagents

Hydrozirconation of alkynylzinc halides by the Schwartz's reagent<sup>38</sup> afforded the zinc and zirconium 1,1-bismetallic reagents<sup>39</sup> as described in Scheme 22.

## Scheme 22



These dimetallioalkenes of type **51** react with aldehydes to provide the allenes in moderate yield.

The method seems to be well suited for the preparation of 1,2,4-trienes (see Scheme 22).

It is interesting to note that a typical reaction of dimetallioalkene is the addition of aldehyde; indeed, once the alcoholate is formed, the second carbon-metal bond undergoes a  $\beta$ -elimination to produce the allene. However, when the second carbon-metal bond is not reactive toward the  $\beta$ -elimination (as a carbon-boron bond) we have to activate the latter in order to generate the allene (compare Schemes 13 and 15).

## 2. 1,1-Zincio-aluminioalkene Reagents

Alkynylzinc halide was also successfully carbometalated by the combination  $Me_3Al/Cp_2TiCl_2$ , as described in Scheme 23.<sup>25</sup>

#### Scheme 23



The reactivity of the 1,1-zincio-aluminioalkene reagent **52** with different electrophiles is yet to be studied.

## 3. 1,1-Dizincioalkene Reagents

An elegant synthesis of 1,1-bismetallic derivatives has been found by Gaudemar<sup>40</sup> who reported that the addition of allylzinc bromide on alkynyl zinc bromide or alkynyl magnesium bromide in refluxing THF leads to the geminated bisanions **53** as the major product (Scheme 24).

#### Scheme 24



In a similar way, the reaction of 2-cyclohexenylzinc bromide with acetylenic Grignard reagent gives the products from single and double additions of the organozinc reagents to the carbon–carbon triple bond.<sup>41</sup>

As the allylmetalation reaction of alkynylmetals leads to a vinylic 1,1-organogembismetallic, a new strategy for effecting stereoselective synthesis of carbon-carbon double bonds was successfully described. This strategy requires a secondary propargylic substrate (the presence of a secondary substituent on the propargylic ether avoids the formation of the double addition) bearing a Lewis basic functional group as a propargylic ether, in order to differentiate the reactivity of the two metals toward electrophiles (Scheme 25).

Scheme 25



Indeed, it has been recently described that an internal chelation (with a Lewis basic functional group) was able to differentiate the reactivity of the two metals of a 1,1-bimetalloalkane toward two electrophiles.<sup>42</sup> The coordination of the oxygen atom to the metal  $m_1$  decreases the reactivity of the latter toward the first electrophile, and thus the nonchelated metal  $m_2$  reacts preferentially with this electrophile.

The allylmetalation step as described in Scheme 24 has been now performed under milder conditions in a less basic solvent such as  $Et_2O$  (-10 °C, 30 min in Scheme 26 instead of 65 °C in THF in Scheme 24),

#### Scheme 26



and the presence of the 1,1-dianionic species **54** has been proved by reaction of the latter with electrophiles (Scheme 26).<sup>43</sup>

By titration of the metallic salts present in the solution it has been established that only the zinc element is present in the structure of the bismetallic,<sup>44</sup> and recent computational studies have also confirmed that only zinc was present in the bismetallic structure.<sup>45</sup> For the stereoselective reaction of the bismetallic **54** with different electrophiles (step I, Scheme 25), mild halogenating agents were chosen, such as phenylsulfonyl halides which are known to react selectively with sp<sup>3</sup> bismetallics.<sup>46</sup>

Thus, addition of phenylsulfonyl chloride to **54** leads to the corresponding vinylic carbenoid **55**. The hydrolysis (or deuteriolysis) of the latter gives the unsaturated vinyl halide in good isolated yield as a unique isomer (Scheme 27).





The stereochemistry was determined by the NOE effect between the vinylic and allylic hydrogens. This result reflects the chelation of the *tert*-butoxy group toward Zn<sub>1</sub>R of 54. Moreover, even an excess of PhSO<sub>2</sub>Cl (4 equiv) does not lead to the vinylic gemdichloro derivative, and thus the resulting vinylic zinc 55 has a lower reactivity than the bismetallic 54.47 Taking advantage of the stereoselective reactivity of phenylsulfonyl chloride with 54, other sulfonyl derivatives were tested (Scheme 27). In each case, only one stereoisomer was formed. Interestingly, the addition of *p*-toluenesulfonyl cyanide<sup>48</sup> leads to a unique metalated  $\alpha,\beta$ -ethylenic nitrile. The chelation is absolutely necessary to discriminate the reactivity of the two metals toward the first electrophile. This was checked by the reaction with a substrate without internal chelation, and in this case the reaction described in Scheme 24 leads to the two geometrical isomers in equal amounts (E:Z = 1:1 after addition of phenylsulfonyl chloride).47

The remaining metal  $Zn_1R$  can also react with a stronger halogenating agent to give the polyhalogenated vinylic compound as a unique isomer. This reaction is of synthetic value for the obtention, at will, of the two geometrical isomers **61** and **63** starting from the same propargylic ether (Scheme 28).<sup>47</sup>

In the case of an  $\alpha$ -metalated vinyl cyanide **64**, the reactivity of the remaining metal Zn<sub>1</sub>R can be increased by a transmetalation step with an organocuprate. The corresponding vinylic organocuprate derivative reacts with allyl bromide to give the skipped triene **66** as a unique isomer in good overall yield (starting from propargylic ether in a one-pot reaction, Scheme 29).<sup>47</sup> However, the coupling reaction of **64** with a vinyl iodide under palladium(0) catalyst gives the corresponding product **67** only in low yields.

When the transmetalation reaction is directly performed on the bismetallic **54** in order to obtain







the corresponding  $Zn_1R/Cu_2$ -type bismetallic **68**, its reactivity is no more chemioselective as described in Scheme 30.<sup>47</sup>

#### Scheme 30



Indeed, the addition of allyl bromide leads to a mixture of monoallylated (E:Z in a 1:1 ratio) and bisallylated product. So, the intramolecular chelation between the *tert*-butoxy group and Zn<sub>1</sub>R is no more efficient to discriminate the reactivity of the two metals toward *the transmetalation step.*<sup>47</sup>

To increase this stereodifferentiation of the bismetallic, the authors studied the allylmetalation of a secondary propargylic alcohol (instead of ether). In this case, after the carbometalation reaction, a covalent metal–oxygen bond is formed, and the addition of an organocuprate leads only to a transmetalation of  $Zn_2R$ , namely the metal that is not chelated (Scheme 31).<sup>47</sup>

## Scheme 31



The reaction of **69** with allyl bromide leads only to a monoallylated derivative **70** as a unique stereoisomer. The stereochemistry of the substituted double bond was determined by NOE effect and clearly shows that only the metal that is not attached by the oxygen moiety undergoes the transmetalation step. In a similar way ethyl propiolate leads to the trieneester **71**. The yields are moderate but the bisalkylation of a propargylic alcohol is carried out in a onepot procedure. However, the reaction of **69** with cyclohexenone or chalcone does not lead to the 1,4addition reaction. The reactivity of the second metal is lower than the reactivity of the first one, and iodination gives the tetrasubstituted olefin **72** as a single isomer in low yield (Scheme **31**).<sup>47</sup>

Thus, the alkylation of Zn<sub>1</sub>R is synthetically useful in the case of the  $\alpha$ -metalated  $\alpha,\beta$ -ethylenic nitrile (see Scheme 29), but in the case of zinc halogenocarbenoid (as 55 in Scheme 28) the alkylation of  $Zn_1R$ is impossible since it requires higher temperature (degradation of the carbenoid). So, the chemistry of alkylidene chlorocarbenoids, which present an ambiphilic aspect, has been studied. Chlorocarbenoids can act as common nucleophiles (as in Scheme 28), but they can act as well as electrophiles toward organometallic nucleophiles. Indeed, the dropwise addition of <sup>*n*</sup>BuLi (2 equiv) to the  $\alpha$ -chlorocarbenoid 55 at -78 °C leads to the formation of the zincate carbenoid 72 which undergoes a smooth intramolecular nucleophilic substitution reaction<sup>49</sup> to give the vinylic organozinc derivative 73. The latter was characterized by hydrolysis (**74**); iodolysis (**75**), and allylation (**76**) after a transmetalation step with 90: 10 stereochemical purity as described in Scheme 32.<sup>47</sup>

Scheme 32



By this 1,2-metalate rearrangement<sup>50</sup>  $Zn_1R$  is first alkylated via an *umpolung* reaction, and then  $Zn_2R$  reacts in a second step with different electrophiles.

A third possible reaction pathway of chlorocarbenoids (they can react as nucleophiles as described in Schemes 26 and 27 or as electrophiles toward nucleophiles as described in Scheme 31) has been known in the literature since 1894, namely the Fritsch-Buttenberg-Wiechell<sup>51</sup> (FBW)<sup>52</sup> rearrangement (Scheme 33). This rearrangement is known to

### Scheme 33

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathsf{R}_1 \\ \mathsf{R}_2 \end{array} \xrightarrow{\mathsf{m}} \quad \overbrace{\mathsf{L.G.}}^{\mathsf{F.B.W.}} \quad \mathsf{R}_1 \xrightarrow{=} \mathsf{R}_2 \end{array}$$

be an efficient approach for alkyne synthesis when the migrating group ( $R_1$  or  $R_2$ ) is a hydrogen,<sup>53</sup> a heteroatom,<sup>54</sup> or an aryl moiety.<sup>55</sup> However, when  $R_1$ and  $R_2$  are alkyl groups, the yields in alkynes *are very low* (<10%) due to the competitive C–H insertion reaction to form cyclopentenes.<sup>56</sup>

Interestingly, the alkylidene carbenoid **55**, generated from the 1,1-dizincioalkene **54**, rearranges cleanly in 70% yield, just by warming the reaction mixture to room temperature, into the disubstituted alkyne **77** (Scheme 34).<sup>59</sup> This first FBW rearrangement of

## Scheme 34



zincated species is in contradiction with the known results in lithio, sodio, and potassio analogues.<sup>57</sup> Indeed, when the same reaction is performed with the lithium carbenoid (generated from an iodine–lithium exchange on **62**, Scheme 28), a complex

mixture of products is obtained in which the alkyne is present *in less* than 10%.

The diastereoselectivity of this process was also studied by the addition of a substituted allylic organometallic derivative (namely crotylzinc bromide, in situ generated by the addition of crotylmagnesium bromide and zinc bromide) across the secondary metalated propargylic ether (Scheme 35).<sup>58</sup>

## Scheme 35



Although a moderate diastereoselectivity is obtained for the crotylmetalation of **78** (formation of **82** after hydrolysis in a diastereomeric ratio of 70/30), the replacement of the *tert*-butyl ether into the methoxyethoxymethyl ether (OMEM) as in **79** raises the diastereoselectivity to 92/8 in 60% yield (see **83**, Scheme 35).<sup>59</sup> Via this strategy, two stereogenic centers and a bismetalated exomethylene moiety were created with a very good diastereomeric ratio.

The question of the fate of a chiral  $sp^3$  carbon center as a migrating group in the FBW is then raised. To answer this interesting question, **80** is treated with PhSO<sub>2</sub>Cl, as previously described in Scheme 27, and then the resulting carbenoid **84** (Scheme 36) is warmed to room temperature. A clean

### Scheme 36



rearrangement takes place to lead to the enyne ether **86** with the same diastereoselectivity (70/30) as the one obtained for the intermediate **84** (or **82** after hydrolysis, see Scheme 34) as described in Scheme  $36.^{59}$ 

Starting from **81**, the obtained ether **87** displays a 92/8 diastereomeric ratio, similar to **83**.<sup>60</sup> Then, from these studies, it was shown that the migration occurs with a complete transfer of stereoselectivity (from 92/8 for **85** to 92/8 for **87**). Moreover, by chemical correlations, it was demonstrated that the FBW rearrangement occurs, via the zinc carbenoids, with a complete *retention of configuration at the migrating* 

atom (the stereogenic centers in **80** or **81** with the one in **86** or **87** present the same diastereomeric ratios and the same absolute configurations). As described in this subchapter, the formation of sp<sup>2</sup> 1,1-dizincioalkene reagent represents a powerful tool for the preparation of the polysubstituted double bond via the successive addition of different electrophiles (up to three carbon–carbon bonds formed as unique isomer). Moreover, an interesting application is the synthesis of  $\alpha, \alpha'$ -chiral disubstituted alkynes from simple propargylic ether.

The allylmetalation of alkynylmetals were also used for the synthesis of metalated cyclobutenes<sup>24</sup> and cyclopentenes<sup>23</sup> as described in Scheme 37.

#### Scheme 37



## VII. 1,1-Dizirconioalkene Reagents

Noncrowded alkynes react with  $[Cp_2ZrMe_2]/[PhMe_2-NH][BPh_4]$  (2/1 ratio) at -30 °C to give complexes **88**-BPh\_4<sup>-</sup> in 70% yield.<sup>61</sup> The possible mechanism for the formation of **88** is described in Scheme 38.

#### Scheme 38



The likely first step is the alkyne insertion in  $[Cp_2-ZrMe(NMe_2Ph)]^+$ , to give the alkenyl compounds **89**. Rapid  $\sigma$ -bond metathesis with the alkyne then liberates the olefin **90** (proven by NMR spectroscopy) and affords the transient alkynyl complex **91**. Trapping of the unsaturated complex **91** by the Lewis base  $[Cp_2ZrMe_2]$  may give a transient dizirconocene intermediate, possibly the  $\mu$ -alkynyl- $\mu$ -methyl complex **92**. The rapid insertion of the alkynyl triple bond into a Zr-Me bond in **92** leads to the 1,1-dizirconioalkene derivatives **88**. The formation of the dideuterated alkene and CH<sub>3</sub>D after treatment of **88** with D<sub>2</sub>O shows that complex **88** contains  $\mu$ -methyl and  $\mu$ -alkenylidene ligands which bridge the two  $Cp_2Zr$  fragments.

## VIII. 1,1-Digallioalkene Reagents

Treatment of alkynyltrimethylsilanes with  $GaCl_3$  gave dimeric products via alkynyldichlorogalliums. Formation of the 1,1-dimetallo-1-buten-3-yne **93** was indicated by deuteriation experiments (Scheme 39).<sup>62</sup>

#### Scheme 39



In a similar way, trimethylsilylethyne and silyl enol ether were reacted with GaCl<sub>3</sub> to give the  $\gamma$ , $\gamma$ -digallio- $\beta$ -enone **95** as described in Scheme 40.<sup>63</sup>

## Scheme 40



The mechanism of the reaction has been studied on a specific case and involved carbogallation<sup>64</sup> of the carbon–carbon triple bond by the gallium enolate **94**, generated by transmetalation of silyl enol ether with GaCl<sub>3</sub> (Scheme 40). Deuteriodegallation of **95** by the acidic workup with D<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> gave the ethenylated ketone **96**. The organodigallium can be also trapped by bromination of the C–Ga bond to give the  $\gamma$ , $\gamma$ dibromoethenylated ketones **97** in good yield. Interestingly, isomerization to the conjugated enone was not observed for these reactions.

## IX. 1,1-Diindioalkene Reagents

Allylindium reagents, generated in situ by mixing In powder with allyl iodide in THF, react with alkynes to give the corresponding allylation products in good yields (Scheme 41).<sup>65</sup>

In the case of the allylation of aromatic acetylenes **98** and with excess amounts of allylindium derivatives, the geminal diindation products were obtained, which produced **99**- $d_2$  upon deuteriolysis or produced diiodinated **100** upon treatment with I<sub>2</sub>.<sup>66</sup> However, when the same reaction was performed on aliphatic alkynes (with a less acidic acetylenic hydrogen), no

Scheme 41



1,1-diindioalkene derivatives were detected in the reaction mixture (no *pre*metalation of the substrate).

## X. 1,1-Cuprio-titanioalkene Reagents

The title derivatives **102** were achieved by reacting the monomeric copper arenethiolate complex **101** in a 2:1 molar ratio with  $[LiC_6H_3(CH_2NMe_2)_2-2,6]_2$ , and **102** has been isolated in 97% yield (Scheme 42).<sup>67</sup>

#### Scheme 42<sup>a</sup>



<sup>*a*</sup> (η<sup>5</sup>-C<sub>5</sub>H<sub>4</sub>SiMe<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>Ti is abbreviated as [Ti].

Compound **102** is an orange to red crystalline solid and is stable in air for several hours, and the solidstate structure was described.<sup>67</sup> However, the reactivity of **102** with electrophiles was not examined.

## XI. 1,1,2-Trititanioalkene Reagents

Very recently, the diisopropyloxy( $\eta^2$ -propene)titanium<sup>68</sup> **103**, readily generated by the reaction of Ti-(O'Pr)<sub>4</sub> with 2 equiv of 'PrMgX as described in Scheme 43, was reacted in situ with halogenoalkynes **104** to give, in a single-pot operation at -50 °C, the titano-titanacyclopropenes **107** in high chemical yields (Scheme 43).<sup>69</sup>

A plausible mechanism for this reaction is shown in Scheme 43. The in situ formed diisopropyloxy( $\eta^2$ propene) titanium **103** reacts with halogenoalkyne **104**, via a ligand exchange,<sup>68</sup> to give as an unstable intermediate the halogeno-titanacyclopropene **105**. Then, **105** undergoes a very fast  $\beta$ -elimination at low temperature to give the alkynyltitanium derivative

#### Scheme 43



**106**.<sup>70</sup> Quenching the reaction with MeOD at -78 °C proved the presence of the metalated alkyne **106** since the deuterioalkyne (Scheme 43, path A) was quantitatively obtained. When the reaction mixture is warmed to -50 °C and stirred for 2 h, a second equiv of 103 reacts with 106 to give quantitatively the titano-titanacyclopropene **107** (Scheme 43, path B). After hydrolysis, **108** is isolated in high yield. The presence of 3 carbon-metal bonds was proven by reaction with MeOD to give **109** (>95% -d in 87% yield). The scope of this reaction is relatively large since various halogenoalkynes with X = Cl, Br, and I as well as alkynyl thiophenyl ether give the trimetalated species in good to excellent yield (Scheme 43). Several chloroalkynes with an alkyl, phenyl, or homopropargylic ether group also lead to the product.<sup>69</sup> This strategy was also applied to the formation of 1,1,2-trizirconiaalkene derivatives by reaction of the *p*-tolylchloroacetylenes with zirconocene-(1butene).69

## XII. 1,1,2-Trialuminioalkene Reagents

The dialuminum compound **110** reacts at room temperature with lithium phenyl ethynide in the presence of a small amount of the chelating Lewis base N, N, N. Attractively lethyle nediamine (TMEDA) to give the crystalline compound **111** in a yield of about 50% (Scheme 44).<sup>71</sup>

The NMR spectroscopic characterization clearly showed an aluminacyclopropene structure with an additional exocyclic dialkylaluminum substituent.<sup>71</sup> The structure was verified by a crystal analysis determination, and interestingly the Al–C distances in the ring differ by 10 pm. The shortest one is observed for the carbon atom bearing the phenyl group [195.1(3) pm], while the second bond which is attached to the exocyclic atom Al is lengthened to 205.2(3) pm. Moreover, the angle between the exocyclic aluminum and the double bond is almost linear (158.8°)!

Scheme 44



The reactivity of this compound with electrophiles is not yet studied.

## XIII. Conclusions

The chemistry summarized in this review shows that various sp<sup>2</sup> geminated bismetallics have been prepared and in some cases these derivatives are extremely useful synthons in a wide variety of carbon-carbon bond forming reactions. The success of these reactions is based on the intrinsic chemical knowledge of each metal and on its specific reactivity with different electrophiles. Their uses in organic synthesis have been particularly underlined in the case of gem-zincio-zirconio-, borio-zirconio-, and biszincioalkene derivatives. In many cases these bis donor reagents react with the more reactive carbonmetal bond whereas the less reactive one can be oxidized (i.e., C-B) or transmetalated (i.e., C-Zn) to a more efficient C-Cu bond. This relatively new field opened the way to many interesting synthetic transformations, and recent promising approaches were disclosed by the preparation of trismetalated double bonds.

## XIV. Acknowledgments

This research was supported in part by The Israel Science Foundation founded by The Academy of Sciences and Humanities (060-471) and by the fund for the promotion of research at the Technion. Acknowledgment is also made to the donors of the Petroleum Research Fund, administered by the American Chemical Society, for partial support of this research (PRF#33747-AC1). The author also thanks the Henry Gutwirth Promotion of Research Fund.

## XV. References

- (1) Corey, E. J.; Cheng, X. *The logic of chemical synthesis*; Wiley-Interscience: New York, 1989.
- (2)Frontiers in Organic Synthesis thematic issue. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96.1 - 600.
- Marek, I.; Normant, J. F. Chem. Rev. 1996, 96, 3241-3267.
- (4) Except the alkylidene carbene chemistry, which was recently reviewed (ref 5), the choice of the author was to concentrate this review only on reactive organometallic derivatives which can create in situ several carbon-carbon bonds.
- (5) For a recent review, see: Doyle, M. P.; Forbes, D. C. Chem. Rev. **1998**, *98*, 911-935.
- For recent reviews, see: (a) Choukroun, R.; Cassoux, P. Acc. Chem. Res. **1999**, 32, 494–502. (b) Rottger, D.; Erker, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1997, 36, 812-827.
- (a) Apeloig, Y.; von R. Schleyer, P.; Binkley, J. S.; Pople, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 4332–4334. (b) Nagase, S.; Morokuma, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 1661–1666. (c) Laidig, W. D.; Schaefer, H. F., III J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 7184–7188. (7)

(d) Apeloig, Y.; Clark, T.; Kos, A. J.; Jemmis, E. D.; von R. Schleyer, P. Isr. J. Chem. 1980, 20, 43–50.
(a) Chung, A.; Lagow, R. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1972,

- (8) 1078–1079. (b) Morrison, J. A.; Chung, C.; Lagow, R. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 5015-5017.
- (a) Maercker, A.; Dujardin, R. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1984**, 23, 224–224. (b) Maercker, A.; Dujardin, R. Angew. Chem., Int. (9)Ed. Engl. 1985, 24, 571–572. (c) Maercker, A.; Theis, M. Top. Curr. Chem. 1987, 138, 1–61.
- Maercker, A.; Bos, B.; Hajgholipour, M. T. J. Organomet. Chem. 1998, 566, 143-149. (10)
- (11) (a) Barluenga, J.; Rodriguez, M. A.; Campos, P. J.; Asensio, G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 5567-5568. (b) Barluenga, J.; Gonzalez, J. M.; Llorente, I.; Campos, P. J.; Rodriguez, M. A.; Thiel, W. J. Organomet. Chem. **1997**, 548, 185–189.
- (a) Maercker, A.; Bos, B. Main Group Met. Chem. 1991, 14, 67-(12)71. (b) Maercker, A. In Lithium Chemistry; Sapse, A. M., von Rague Schleyer, P., Eds.; Wiley & Sons: New York, 1995; p 490.
- (a) Seyferth, D.; Langer, P.; Doring, M. Organometallics 1995, (13)*14*, 4457–4459 and references therein.
  (14) (a) Barbero, A.; Cuadrado, P.; Fleming, I.; Gonzalez, A. M.;
- Pulido, F. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 351-353. (b) Barbero, A.; Cuadrado, P.; Fleming, I.; Gonzalez, A. M.; Pulido, F. J.; Rubio, R. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans 1* **1993**, 1657 - 1662.
- (15) (a) Barluenga, J.; Sanz, R.; Fananas, F. J. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1995, 1009–1010. (b) Barluenga, J.; Sanz, R.; Fananas, F. J. Chem. Eur. J. 1997, 3, 1324-1336.
- (a) Duboudin, J. G.; Jousseaume, B. Synth. Commun. 1979, 9, (16)53-56. (b) Duboudin, J. G.; Jousseaume, B. J. Organomet. Chem. **1979**, *168*, 1–11.
- (17) For a review on intramolecular carbometalation, see: Marek, I.; Normant, J. F. In Carbometalation Reactions in Metal-Catalyzed Cross-Coupling Reactions; Diederich, F., Stang, P. J., Eds.; Wiley-VCH: 1998; p 271–337.
  (18) Wilke, G.; Muller, H. *Liebigs Ann. Chem.* 1960, *629*, 222.
  (19) Zweifel, G.; Steele, R. B. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1966, 6021–6024.
  (20) Zweifel, G. *Org. React.* 1984, *32*, 375.

- (21) These precise experimental conditions are used in order to avoid the formation of the 1,1,1-trialuminioalkane.
- Zweifel, G.; Clark, G. M.; Lynd, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1971, 1593–1594. (22)
- Negishi, E. I.; Sawada, H.; Tour, J. M.; Wei, Y. J. Org. Chem. (23)**1988**, *53*, 913–915.
- (a) Boardman, L. D.; Bagheri, V.; Sawada, H.; Negishi, E. I. J.
   Am. Chem. Soc. 1984, 106, 6105–6107. (b) Negishi, E. I.; Liu, (24)F.; Choudeiry, D.; Mohamud, M. M.; Silveira, A.; Reeves, M. J. Org. Chem. **1996**, *61*, 8325–8328. (c) Liu, F.; Negishi, E. I. Tetrahedron Lett. **1997**, 38, 1149–1152.
- Van Horn, D. E.; Valente, L. F.; Idacavage, M. J.; Negishi, E. I. (25)J. Organomet. Chem. 1978, 156, C20–C24.
- (26) The second metal can have an aluminum- or titanium-containing group
- (27) Negishi, E. I.; Yoshida, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1981, 103, 1276-1277.
- (28) Pelter, A.; Smith, K.; Parry, D. E.; Jones, K. D. Aust. J. Chem. **1992**, *45*, 57–70.
- (a) Pelter, A.; Smith, K.; Jones, K. D. *J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans.* 1 **1992**, 747–748. (b) Pelter, A.; Smith, K.; Jones, K. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **1991**, *63*, 403–406. (29)
- Cooke, M. P., Jr. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 2930-2931.
- Waas, J. R.; Sidduri, A.; Knochel, P. Tetrahedron Lett. 1992, 33, (31)3717-3720
- (32) Deloux, L.; Srebnik, M. J. Org. Chem. 1994, 59, 6871-6873.
- (a) Deloux, L.; Skrzypcak-Jankun, E.; Cheesman, B. V.; Srebnik, (33)M.; Sabat, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 10302-10303. (b) Petasis, N. A.; Zavialov, I. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 567-570.
- (34) Srebnik, M; Deloux, L.; Sabat, M. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 3276-3277.
- (a) Deloux, L.; Srebnik, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1996, 37, 2735-(35)2738. (b) Zheng, B.; Deloux, L.; Pereira, S.; Skrzypcak-Jankun, E.; Cheesman, B. V.; Sabat, M.; Srebnik, M. J. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 1996, 10, 267-278.
- (36) Negishi, E. I.; Takahashi, T. Acc. Chem. Res. 1994, 27, 124-13Ŏ.
- Desurmont, G.; Dalton, S.; Giolando, D. M.; Srebnik, M. J. Org. (37)Chem. 1997, 62, 8907-8909.
- (a) Schwartz, J.; Hart, D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 8115. (b) (38)(a) Tucker, C. E.; Knochel, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 3521.
   (a) Tucker, C. E.; Knochel, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113,
- (39)9888-9890. (b) Tucker, C. E.; Greve, B.; Klein, W.; Knochel, P. Organometallics 1994, 13, 94-101.
- (a) Gaudemar, M. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris Ser. C 1971, 273, 1669-(40)(a) Gaudemar, M. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris Ser. C 1971, 275, 1009–1672.
   (b) Frangin, Y.; Gaudemar, M. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris Ser. C 1974, 278, 885–887.
   (c) Auger, J.; Courtois, G.; Miginiac, L. J. Organomet. Chem. 1977, 133, 285.
   (d) Courtois, G.; Miginiac, L. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris Ser. C 1977, 285, 207.
   (e) Bernardou, F.; Miginiac, L. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris Ser. C 1975, 280, 1473.

(f) Bernardou, F.; Miginiac, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1976, 3083-3086. (g) Bertrand, M. T.; Courtois, G.; Miginiac, L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1974**, 1945–1948. (h) Bertrand, M. T.; Courtois, G.; Miginiac, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1975, 3147-3150.

- (41) Bellasoued, M.; Frangin, Y.; Gaudemar, M. Synthesis 1977, 205-208
- Wang, F.; Marek, I.; Tang, J.; Labaudiniere, L.; Normant, J. F. *Synlett* **1995**, 723–725. (42)
- Creton, I.; Marek, I.; Normant, J. F. Tetrahedron Lett. 1995, 36, (43)7451-7454
- (44) Frangin, Y. Thèse de Doctorat d'Etat ès Sciences Physiques, UPMC, Paris, France, 1979.
- (a) Hirai, A.; Nakamura, M.; Nakamura, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (45)(1999, 121, 8665–8666. (b) Marek, I.; Schreiner, P.; Normant, J. F. Org. Lett. 1999, 929–931.
- (46) Chemla, F.; Marek, I.; Normant, J. F. *Synlett* 1993, 665–666.
  (47) Creton, I.; Marek, I.; Normant, J. F. *Synthesis* 1996, 1499–1508.
  (48) Klement, I.; Lennick, K.; Tucker, C. E.; Knochel, P. *Tetrahedron* Lett. 1993, 34, 4623-4626.
- (a) Harada, T.; Katsuhira, T.; Oku, A. *J. Org. Chem.* **1992**, *57*, 5805–5807. (b) Harada, T.; Katsuhira, T.; Hara, D.; Kotani, Y.; (49)Maejima, K.; Kaji, R.; Oku, A. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4897-4907.
- (a) Creton, I.; Marek, I.; Brasseur, D.; Jestin, J–L.; Normant, J. F. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 6873–6876. (b) Normant, J. (50)F.; Foulon, J. P.; Masure, D.; Sauvêtre, R.; Villieras, J. Synthesis **1975**, 122. (c) Topoleski, M.; Duraisamy, M.; Gawronski, J.; Gawronska, K.; Goedken, V.; Walborsky, H. M. *J. Org. Chem.* 1993, 58, 546-555 and references therein. (d) N'Guyen, T.; Negishi, E. I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 5903-5906. (e) Grandjean, D.; Pale, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1993**, *34*, 1155–1158. (f) Bonnet, B.; Le Gallic, Y.; Plé, G.; Duhamel, L. *Synthesis* **1993**, 1071-1073. (g) Negishi, E. I.; Yoshida, T.; Abramovitch, A.; Lew, G.; Williams, R. H. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 343–356. (h) Brown, H. C.; Lee, H. D.; Kulkarni, S. U. *J. Org. Chem.* **1986**, *51*, 5282–5286. (i) Birkinshaw, S.; Kocienski, P. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1991**, 32, 6961-6964. (j) Alexakis, A.; Hanaïzi, J.; Jachiet, D.; Normant, J. F.; Toupet, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 1990, 31, 1271-1274. (k) Negishi, E. I.; Akiyoshi, K. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 646-647. (l) Sidduri, A. R.; Rozemo, M. J.; Knochel, P. J. Org. *Chem.* **1993**, *58*, 2694–2713. (m) Sidduri, A. R.; Knochel, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1992**, *114*, 7579–7581. (n) Kocienski, P. In Organic Synthesis via Organometallics; Enders, D., Gais, H. J., Klein, W., Eds.; Vieweg: Wiesbaden, 1993; p 203–223. (o) Barber, C.; Bury, P.; Kocienski, P.; O'Shea, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1991, 1595-1596.
- (51) Fritsch, P. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1894, 272, 319–324. Buttenberg, W. P. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1894, 272, 324–337. Wiechell, H. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1894, 272, 337–344.
   (52) Köbrich, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1965, 4, 49–68.
- (53) Corey, E. J.; Fuchs, D. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1972**, 3769–3772.
   (54) (a) Fischer, D. R.; Williamson, B. L.; Stang, P. J. *Synlett* **1992**,
- 535-536. (b) Stang, P. J. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, 31, 274-285.
- (a) Ben-Efraim, D. A. In *The chemistry of carbon–carbon triple bond*, part 2; Patai, S., Ed.; Wiley and Sons: New York, 1978; p (55)773-776 and references therein. (b) Viehe, H. G. Chemistry of acetylenes; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1969; p 117-134. (c) Moss, R. A., Jones, M., Jr., Eds. *Carbenes*, Vol. II; Wiley and

Marek

sons: New York, 1975; p 44. (d) Erickson, K. L.; Wolinsky, J. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1965**, *87*, 1142–1143. (e) Fienemann, H.; Köbrich, G. *Chem. Ber.* **1974**, *107*, 2797–2803.

- Kobrich, G. Chem. Ber. 1974, 107, 2797–2805.
  (a) Taber, D. F.; Meagley, R. P.; Doren, D. J. J. Org. Chem. 1996, 61, 5723–5728 and references cited therein. (b) Taber, D. F.;
  Sahli, A.; Yu, H.; Meagley, R. P. J. Org. Chem. 1995, 60, 6571–6573. (c) Kunishima, M.; Hioki, K.; Ohara, T.; Tani, S. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1992, 219–220. (d) Sato, H.; Isono, N.;
  Miyoshi, I.; Mori, M. Tetrahedron 1996, 52, 8143–8158. (56)
- (57) These carbenoids are usually thermally labile above about -80°C to −60 °C. However, the X-ray structure of an alkylidene Li– Cl carbenoid was recently published. Maercker, A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1993, 32, 1023-1025 and Boche, G.; Marsch, M.; Muller, A.; Harms, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. **1993**, *32*, 1032–1033.
- For the control of the metallotropic equilibrium, as well as for (58)the diastereofacial choice in the crotylmetalation of alkenes (formation of sp<sup>3</sup> bismetallic derivatives), see: (a) Brasseur, D.; Marek, I.; Normant, J. F. *Tetrahedron* **1996**, *52*, 7235–7250. (b) Marek, I.; Lefrancois, J. M.; Normant, J. F. *J. Org. Chem.* **1994**, 59, 4154-4161. (c) Marek, I.; Lefrancois, J. M.; Normant, J. F. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1994, 131, 910-918.
- Creton, I.; Rezaei, H.; Marek, I.; Normant, J. F. Tetrahedron (59)Lett. 1999, 40, 1899-1902.
- (60) The diastereoisomeric ratio was determined on the deprotected alcohol.
- Horton, A. D.; Orpen, A. G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1992, (61)31, 876-878
- (62) Yamaguchi, M.; Hayashi, A.; Hirama, M. Chem. Lett. 1995, 1093-1094.
- Yamaguchi, M.; Tsukagoshi, T.; Arisawa, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. (63)1999, 121, 4074-4075.
- (64) Yamaguchi, M.; Sotokawa, T.; Hirama, M. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1997, 743-744.

- J. J.; Spek, A. L.; Grove, D. M., Lang, M., Kartan, C. *Chem. Soc.* **1996**, *118*, 4817–4829. (a) Kulinkovich, O. G.; Sviridov, S. V.; Vasilevski, T. S.; Pritskaya, T. S. *Zh. Org. Khim.* **1989**, *25*, 2244–2245. (b) Kulinkovich, O. G.; Pritskaya, T. S. J. Org. Chem. USSR (Engl. Transch) **1000**, *25*, 2027 (c) Kulinkovitch. O. G.; Sviridov, S. V.; (68) Transl.) 1990, 25, 2027. (c) Kulinkovitch, O. G.; Sviridov, S. V.; Vasilevski, D. A. Synthesis 1991, 234-234 and references therein. (d) Harada, K.; Urabe, H.; Sato, F. Tetrahedron Lett. **1995**, *36*, 3203–3206. For recent papers, see: (e) Urabe, H.; Hamada, T.; Sato, F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, *121*, 2931–2932. (f) Takayama, Y.; Okamoto, S.; Sato, F. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1999**, 121, 3559–3560. (g) Mizojiri, R.; Urabe, H.; Sato, F. *Tetrahedron* Lett. **1999**, 40, 2557–2560. (h) Urabe, H.; Sato, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 1245-1255.
- Averbuj, C.; Kaftanov, J.; Marek, I. Synlett 1999, 1939-1941. (69)An alternative mechanism for the obtention of 106 can also be (70)
- formulated via an oxidative addition of the Ti(II) into the chloroalkyne.
- (71) Uhl, W.; Spies, T.; Koch, R.; Saak, W. Organometallics. 1999, 18, 4598-4602.

CR990288E